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About the Book

Rio Ferdinand is widely acknowledged as one of the most talented and skilful defenders in the world. His transfer from West Ham to Leeds was a British record at the time, a feat he achieved again with his subsequent move to Manchester United. Ferdinand’s success on the pitch has been meteoric; including high drama in the Champions League, three World Cups and a dramatic Premiership victory.

Here, for the very first time, Ferdinand reveals all about his infamous missed drugs test, the controversies surrounding both his transfers, his supposed reluctance to resign for United in 2005, the alleged tapping-up meeting with Chelsea’s Peter Kenyon and various tabloid headlines involving partying and women.


About the Author

Born in Peckham, Ferdinand signed for West Ham as a schoolboy, turning professional at the age of 17. He played 158 games for the Hammers before transferring to Leeds United in November 2000, with whom he reached the Champions League semi-final in 2001. Following his star performance in the 2002 World Cup, he joined Manchester United. He made his England debut in November 1997 and was one of the team’s best performers in the 2006 World Cup. He has won 81 caps.
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‘A fascinating read regardless of whether you’re a footie fan’
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‘Ferdinand’s account of his transition from Peckham to the stockbroker belt, and his work with young offenders and his music label make refreshing reading. Then there is the football … all told in an easily read, entertaining fashion’
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‘A very good read’
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Prologue




It gave ammunition to all those who believed I was one of the game’s bad boys. To them I was the flashy rich kid, the champagne-slugging, big-mouthed, trouble-making drug-taker. A footballer without values, a thickie who just got lucky. I don’t recognise myself from those descriptions.



 




Standing in the toilets at the Radisson Hotel, Heathrow, on 18 March 2004, doing what you do, I reflected on how that last cup of tea wasn’t the only thing slipping down the drain.

My career was going the same way.

In a couple of hours the FA’s appeal panel would decide whether to uphold the eight-month ban imposed on me for missing a drugs test.

If they did I would miss the rest of Manchester United’s season, the Euro 2004 Championships with England, and the start of the following season too.

Press interest in the case was huge, and the speculation rife. Were the FA determined to make an example of me? Would other players have been treated the same? I felt like a sitting target.

As I stood there, contemplating the injustice of it all, a large figure loomed into view at the next urinal. ‘All right, how you doing?’ he asked. I couldn’t believe it. It was the FA’s ­prosecuting lawyer, Mark Gay, the man who tried to get me banned for two years.

He wasn’t just having a piss, he seemed to be taking the piss too.

‘How was I doing?’ I thought, ‘Fucking terrific.’ I wanted to put the geezer through the wall. This bloke was trying to nail me and he was asking if I was all right. No, I wasn’t all right. I was far from all right. In fact, I couldn’t have been less all right.

Two hours later the ban was confirmed and I was banished from the game. It was the lowest point of my football career.

It gave ammunition to all those who believed I was one of the game’s bad boys.

To them I was the flashy rich kid, the champagne-slugging, big-mouthed, trouble-making drug-taker. A footballer without values, a thickie who just got lucky.

I don’t recognise myself from those descriptions, but they’ve all been thrown at me at different times in my life, sometimes all at once.

They come from those who don’t know me, who have never met me yet feel they can make a judgement about what I’m like and what I stand for. Yes, I’m rich – how could I pretend to be otherwise? Not as rich as has been claimed, but I’ve got a few quid. Which international footballer who plies his trade in the Premiership hasn’t? I’m not unique.

Yet when you have made money you are apparently no longer a human being. You are there to be ripped to pieces. I don’t know what it is – jealousy maybe? I don’t understand jealousy. If I see somebody doing well I’m happy for them. If the next geezer to me is earning 50 grand a minute, I’d want to know how he did it and, provided it was legitimate, I’d admire him.

Having money is not a crime and nobody can say I don’t know the value of it. I was brought up in a concrete council block on the tough Friary Estate in Peckham, south-east London. It’s been described in the press as one of the roughest estates in Europe, although it never felt like that to me.

We might not have had much, but my mum and dad scrimped and saved to give the family the best they could. When I was able to buy my mum a four-bedroom house in nearby Mottingham when I was 19, all our possessions fitted into the front room.

I’ve been called flash just because I’m from London. You’re automatically a cockney wide boy just because you like nice clothes, wear a big watch, have a haircut that’s a little different or wear a sparkly earring. That to me is ­prejudice.

Flash? I wouldn’t know where to start.

So I drive a nice car and I’ve got a nice house – of course I have. Should I just leave my money in the bank, kip on a mate’s floor and get myself a beaten-up Metro? You can’t take your money to the bloody funeral parlour. What do people want? Who is the Identikit footballer who is acceptable to the public? The truth is, there isn’t one and I’ve come to realise that.

I have plenty to say for myself at times, like in a dressing-room environment, with close friends, or even to the media if I feel strongly about an issue. But put me in a bar or a ­restaurant and I’m looking for the corner of the room. I don’t want to be the centre of attention.

You won’t find me in The Ivy or other celebrity haunts where you know there’s going to be cameras. I don’t go to those places, I avoid them like the plague. I don’t want my picture taken every time I go out. I hate it. And if the photo­g­raphers start following me around I go looking for the back door.

I’m not the ‘look at me’ type who holds court and bores everyone to death. Anyone who is successful can go round saying, ‘I’m the geezer, I’m the man, look at me. Who wants a drink at the bar? I’ll buy the whole place a drink. Give me the most expensive thing you’ve got.’ I don’t do that, that’s not me.

I’ve walked into clubs and I’ve seen geezers I know with buckets of champagne going, ‘Oi, over here, mate,’ and I’m off to the other end of the place. If we book a table in a restaurant I want the one out of sight.

I like a drink occasionally, it’s true, but no more than the next man. And as for being a Champagne Charlie, a glass of wine or a lager will do me.

Talking of Charlie, no, I’m not a drug-taker. Never have been, never will be. Plenty have accused me of it, even before I famously missed that drugs test.

I’ll get to the truth of what happened later on, but, no matter how much I protest, there will always be those who think I took something and deliberately avoided the test. Mud sticks. Claiming that I’d forgotten was not a very convincing excuse, even I can see that. As soon as I said it, I could hear the whole country going, ‘Pull the other one!’

If I’d been an ordinary fan, getting the train to the office each day and reading the latest sports news in the paper, I’d have thought Rio Ferdinand was on drugs as well. But if I’d wanted to avoid a drugs test I’d surely have come up with an excuse which was a lot better than that one.

It upsets me that I will forever be a drugs cheat in some people’s eyes. I don’t want my own children or other kids who love the game thinking that, but I’ll never be able to convince everyone.

All I can do is live my life as well as I can and, by my actions, persuade the public I was innocent, or at least make them question whether they were right to judge me so quickly.

I want to be known as Rio Ferdinand, quality footballer, not Rio Ferdinand, dodgepot. One of the reasons I want to tell my story is to show people the real me, the person they think they know but probably don’t.

It’s always been in my nature to take others at face value unless they show me different. But, with me, people have always jumped to conclusions.

I’m not going to pretend I’m an angel because I’m not. I’ve been in some scrapes, but that puts me in the majority not the minority. I regret some of them and others I couldn’t care less about, but I’m not malicious, just a bit daft sometimes. A man who’s never made mistakes has never made anything.

I know what’s right and what’s wrong and I have strong values which were instilled into me by my parents. We weren’t well off, but my background gave me a wonderful grounding in life.

I didn’t become a footballer through luck. Despite the fact that I’ve been accused of laziness at different points in my career, even by the ex-England manager Sven-Göran Eriksson, I’ve worked damned hard to get to the level I’m at now. I was always obsessed with the game and determined to fulfil my dream. There are those who want to be doctors, solicitors or fighter-pilots; I always wanted to be a footballer.

Even when there were many who doubted me, I kept focused. I put in hours and hours of practice every day of my life to ensure I succeeded. And I’m not thick either. Just thought I’d get that one straight while I’m here. I loved school, hardly missed a day and got GCSEs in English, maths, drama, PE and science. It doesn’t make me Brain of Britain, but it doesn’t make me an idiot either.

I love reading and will take anybody on in a debate about world events and modern history. Want an argument about Saddam Hussein, bin Laden, Che Guevara, Nelson Mandela or Martin Luther King? Bring it on. But I can also debate what’s happening in Big Brother and on EastEnders!

I know people don’t think of me as being intelligent because of various incidents like the Ayia Napa video (which I’ll discuss later as well) and forgetting the drugs test. But the truth is I feel comfortable in any surroundings, talking about most subjects. I can go into any room and speak to anybody, from government ministers to factory workers, and I will always cope.

Obviously there are subjects I don’t have a clue about, but you can still have an opinion. I feel strongly about the fact that we went to war in Iraq, for instance. I don’t think we should have gone in there unless we were 100 per cent certain it was right. The reasons to get involved should have been black and white, but they weren’t and now look at the mess which has been left behind.

I wish the history lessons at school had gone into all that sort of stuff – the Middle East and the tensions in Israel, Iraq and Iran. But all we learned about was mediaeval times. Not a lot of help in understanding the world we live in today.

While I don’t claim to be a figure of great importance myself, I was grateful for the opportunity to write my own book so people can pass judgement on me based on information rather than hearsay.

I’m still a relatively young man, but so much has happened in my life that I felt it was important that my ­generation knew my side of the story. Whatever conclusion you come to in the end, good or bad, at least you’ve given me a hearing.

That is all I’ve ever asked for.




CHAPTER



ONE


He Who Dares Wins





Growing up in Peckham, I always believed anything was possible. We might not have had any money, but dreams don’t cost anything. My dream was to be a footballer and nothing and nobody was going to stop me.





 





I’m a Peckham boy and proud of it. It’s my manor. It wouldn’t be everyone’s cup of tea, but that working-class jungle of bricks and concrete in south-east London is the greatest place in the world to me.


The only reason most of the country has even heard of Peckham is because it’s the home of the BBC comedy series Only Fools and Horses. Del Boy Trotter, the main character, once joked: ‘The only people who missed Peckham were the Luftwaffe.’


Well, I miss it. Okay, it’s not pretty, and it has always had a bit of a reputation for crime and drugs, but it’s my home and I never tire of going back there.


Del Boy had another saying, ‘He who dares wins’, and that’s been my philosophy all my life.


Growing up in Peckham, I always believed anything was possible. We might not have had any money, but dreams don’t cost anything. My dream was to be a footballer and nothing and nobody was going to stop me. Yes, you’ve got to have talent, but without determination you’ve got no chance and I had it in spades.


I was born in King’s College Hospital in Camberwell, next door to Peckham, on 7 November 1978. I was named Rio after the Rio Grande, which means Great River. My mum, Janice Lavender, thought that sounded good. Apparently, I would have been called Giovanna if I’d been a girl! Gio instead of Rio.


Mum was only 17 when she had me, but she was a strong girl. Her Irish mum walked out of the family home in Bermondsey when she was eight. She was one of six kids, but they all mucked in together to help her dad run the house for most of their young lives.


She doesn’t even know where her mum is and isn’t bothered about finding out either. My granddad is a diamond bloke who now lives on the Isle of Wight with his second wife, my nan, and they are a lovely couple.


My dad Julian Ferdinand’s family are from St Lucia. There were ten in his family and one by one they came over to England. He was ten years old when he moved here. We used to go round to Granddad and Nan’s house on a Sunday, with all the other grandkids and my dad’s brothers. Granddad was quite ill and we would go in and say hello to him and he would give us some sweets. Then Nan would bake us wicked cakes.


Dad was older than Mum by five years and, while little Rio coming along was a shock to both of them, they’d already been living together in Peckham for a while, since Mum was 15, so there was a foundation there, of sorts.


People still call Mum Mrs Ferdinand sometimes, but she never has been. Mum and Dad didn’t marry. But she changed her surname from Lavender to St Fort 13 years ago when she married her husband Peter.


When you tell people you come from Peckham you are expected to conform to that image – be a bit of a bad boy or perhaps more of a wide boy like Del or, perish the thought, be like his brother Rodney or their mate Trigger.


Only Fools and Horses and another comedy called Desmond’s, about a family who owned a barber’s shop, were bang on about the sense of community which existed in Peckham. On the sprawling Friary Estate, where I lived at 18 Gisburn House, everyone looked out for everyone else. It might have been tough, but to me it was a warm and friendly place where I always felt safe.


Any adults walking past you would go, ‘What’s up then, Rio, are you all right?’ When I was little my mum only had to ask for someone to look out for me and it was done in an instant. An ear-piercing scream from our third-floor flat was enough. ‘Sheldon! Can you look after Rio at the Adventure, please?’ and it would be done.


The Adventure was the playground across the road from where we lived, and it housed the playgroup and youth club. It was the centre of our universe, our lives revolved around it. It was the sort of place the kids of today are crying out for. I never realised how lucky we were. Me and my mates, Gavin, Ray, Ahmet, Sevhan, David and Fitzley and a whole bunch of others had a blast there for years.


Mum used to look after little ’uns as a childminder and she’d take them to the kids’ club near the Adventure where their mums would pick them up. When I finished school I’d go straight to the Adventure.


There were leaders there who supervised activities after school and during the holidays, and our parents always knew we were in good hands. Also on the estate was a huge grassy area which was our Wembley. We may have been short of money but we certainly weren’t deprived.


There would always be kids running around causing havoc, but it was an innocent sort of havoc.


We’d play games like ‘knock down ginger’, where you’d knock on someone’s door and run away. The worst we’d ever do was put a banger through a letter box, which made a hell of a noise … as did Mum whenever she found out about it.


It was a very diverse estate in terms of culture. There were white boys, black boys, Turkish boys, Irish boys, African, Caribbean, almost every colour and creed you could think of. If you wanted to find an integrated society we had it on the Friary Estate.


I’ve heard it said I must be gutted to have been brought up in a place like Peckham. Rubbish. My ideal scenario would be for me to live in Peckham as it was then but with all the amenities that I’m used to now.


I wish my kids could grow up on the same estate at the time that I did, because I honestly believe there was no better place. You learned all about life. You became street-wise but you got a sense of real values as well. You learned social skills to deal with all manner of cultures and to talk openly and respectfully to adults, kids, blacks and whites. You understood about taking the rough with the smooth, but you also learned about discipline and what’s right and what’s wrong.


Mum is like Supermum. She’s devoted her whole life to us kids. Whenever I’ve needed her she’s been there for me. Growing up she made sure I was always doing positive things that stimulated me. She’s the best mum anyone could wish for. Mum lives in Mottingham now, which is about a 20-minute drive from Peckham, but she still takes my little brother Jeremiah and sister Sian back to the old estate and the Adventure in the summer holidays. It holds such fond memories.


The estate’s not the same now though, the warmth has gone. Everyone keeps themselves to themselves and it’s lost its heart. There’s hardly any kids play outside there any more. It’s weird, almost eerie.


Some kids are so segregated these days and don’t understand what it is to be around loads of people from different races as we were. They don’t go out to play because their parents are scared of the paedophiles and kidnappers, and the children become cocooned.


Even when it’s light kids just go round to friends’ houses, often driven there and back by their parents, even if it’s just a few hundred yards away. I always played out till it started getting dark and Mum called for me to come in.


The back grass was about 50 yards long, hemmed in by the flats, which acted as a natural boundary, although it resulted in the occasional broken window and some very angry parents.


There were signs up saying ‘no ball games’ but nobody took any notice. And when the council put trees up to stop us playing some of the older lads just chopped them down. It was our hallowed turf.


People would be out on balconies in the evening watching us and when I had to go in I would then watch from the window because my bedroom overlooked the grass. It was like having my own little corporate box.


We would play massive football games of 13-a-side or even more. No matter what the numbers were you’d play, and if there was one extra you’d have a rush goalie. Yet see a big group of kids today out on the field playing football as it gets dark and you’d think, ‘Bloody hell, that’s odd.’ We had 24- and 25-year-olds playing football with 11-year-olds. If you saw that now you’d maybe think the older ones were kiddie-fiddlers. But for us it was normal, part of growing up.


They put a little purpose-built games area up next to the grass which was brilliant and we would play on that when it was wet. There was a basketball net on it originally, but anybody playing anything but football got eased off. Eventually, the basketball net went the same way as the trees – it got cut down.


As long as I was on the estate Mum was happy, but she didn’t like me going off it. A lot of my mates would go to Neat Street, which was about a 20-minute walk away, to play kids from other estates, but I wasn’t allowed to go because I was too young. I pleaded and pleaded with Mum, but she wanted to know where I was all the time.


And there was no playing out after dark. Mum used to come out on the balcony of our flat and scream, ‘Reee-oh, Reeee-oh’ and I knew that was it for the day. If I wasn’t in within two minutes of that scream there was trouble. Neither of my parents was averse to giving me a good clip round the ear.


Like many estates, ours could get naughty at times. I once saw a woman who was an absolute drunk get picked up by her boyfriend and chucked head-first on to the concrete floor. There were drugs around, but we knew where the dealers were and we knew not to get involved. Any problems were usually at night which was why Mum always wanted me indoors.


One evening a girl got stabbed to death on the stairs of the block next to mine. She was a really pretty girl and I don’t think they ever found out who did it. I was only 11 at the time and it shook everybody up. But you just thought it was because she was involved with bad stuff and as long as you stayed out of it you were fine.


As a kid, I felt immune to any trouble because there were so many people on the estate who were good people and there was real discipline in our family, which kept me on the straight and narrow as much as possible.


Mum’s best mate was called Sharon and her daughter Chantelle was my best friend when I was growing up. Sharon used to look after me when I was little and do my hair when I was a baby. I loved it round her house and threw a tantrum whenever we had to go home because I never wanted to leave.


I went to Lympston day nursery till I was five and then Camelot Primary School, which was just behind a housing block opposite our flat. Kids from the Friary either went there or St Francis, which was on the other side of the estate. Camelot was a small school, a one-minute walk from our flat, and had one of the first black headteachers in the area.


I never wanted to skive off. I loved going to school, but not because I was a boffin, more because I enjoyed messing about with my mates. I liked learning too, but fooling about was what I preferred. There are those who will tell you I haven’t changed!


I wasn’t the most attentive in lessons. I got suspended from Camelot once for mucking about after I’d finished all my work. Mum went ballistic – not with me, but the school and she told them they needed to find more to keep me occupied. I was always finished long before everyone else.


One of the best things about Camelot was the food. School dinners might not have much of a reputation, but ours were brilliant. I would go back for seconds and thirds. Long after I’d left, the dinner ladies would remind Mum of how much I used to love their cooking.


There was a dinner lady called Sasay from Jamaica and another one called Pat who were like my best mates because they had the grub. You used to get sheets of lamb and beef with the best roast potatoes and the fish fingers were awesome. And for afters the arctic roll was blinding. I would be first in the queue and last out of the hall.


I would eat like a horse at home as well. Mum was a great cook and she would swap dishes with other families on special occasions. She’d make, say, a Caribbean meal for someone and they might give us a Turkish one back. It made for a lot of variety.


I got the nickname ‘Apples’ because I always had at least two apples a day, one on the way to school and one on the way home. I often had an orange as well. And that was on top of everything else.


I still eat loads. My plate is always piled high. Whenever I go to a fancy dinner I laugh at the tiny portions they dish up. Sasay and Pat would have gone mad. To them it would be a starvation diet. Nouvelle cuisine? You can keep it. School dinners will do for me.


I could always get to the front of the dinner queue because I was the fastest kid in school. I was forever tearing about. I had a little Raleigh Burner bike which I was a demon on. One day it got nicked. I’d left it downstairs because the lift was broken and carrying it took ages because it was so heavy.


As I quickly went upstairs into the flat someone’s shouted, ‘Rio, Rio, your bike!’ I looked down over the balcony and some geezer of about 18 or 19 was riding off on it. My dad and uncle ran downstairs, chased after him, caught him and gave him a little slap. Well I was told it was a little slap. I never saw him again.


When I wasn’t on my bike I was running everywhere. At my best, when I went to Bluecoats secondary in Blackheath, I could do the 100m in around 12 seconds and the 200m in about 24 seconds, if memory serves me right.


We used to run up and down Friary Road, from the church at one end to the school at the other. I did it in my socks because that made me even faster. I’d pretend I was Linford Christie or Carl Lewis and challenge the other kids. Mum would go bananas when I got home and say, ‘What you got holes in your socks for?’ and I’d say, ‘I was racing, I was racing, I’m faster without shoes.’


I would push my luck with Mum. If I wanted something, she’d usually give in. I once made her take me all the way to Camberwell to get a special haircut.


The cut I wanted was a Nike tick shaved into the back of my head. I must have known they were going to be my future sponsors! All my mates were going to this one barber called J & Johnsons. Mum couldn’t believe it when the bloke said it would be a tenner to get my hair done like I wanted. She told me that as well as being the first time I’d been to the place, it would also be the last. The tick looked great but it only lasted for about a week until my hair started to grow back.


Another time, I went on and on about wanting a clicksuit, which was a combination of a baggy shirt and trousers. She saved up for weeks to buy it, but when I got it I only wore it once because by then it was out of fashion. I still feel bad about that.


It’s funny thinking back about all the stuff I used to get up to when I was a kid. I really haven’t changed that much. Fooling around, running about, eating loads, cool haircuts (I think so anyway), football day and night. That’s me all right.


Gymnastics was a big passion of mine as a kid. I represented Camelot and got selected for our borough, Southwark, to compete in the London Games. I performed on the floor, the vault, the parallel bars and the high bars and won the competition.


The floor was my favourite. It’s a dynamic discipline, with all the tumbles and twists involved, and exhilarating when you get it right, though not so much fun if you land splat on your arse. I’ve not tried to do a summersault for a few years, but back then I could easily do the type of celebration Robbie Keane does when he scores for Spurs. I could do three or four back flips in a row, no problem. LuaLua’s routine is a good one at Portsmouth. I wouldn’t even try that one now – I’m too long in the body.


I was spotted at a gymnastics contest by someone from the Central School of Ballet in Farringdon who offered me a scholar­ship. It was Billy Elliot stuff and I jumped at the chance, even though I was only ten. I knew I might get some piss-taking from other kids, but that didn’t bother me, although I used to tell them I did dance rather than ballet to cover myself. But I didn’t feel like a cissy or anything. I’ve always been open-minded and prepared to try anything.


I thought joining ballet school would be exciting because I would be travelling out of Peckham and seeing different places. Because Mum never let me go off the estate it was a big adventure.


There were loads of birds at ballet school, which was also one of its attractions. But there would also be male adults getting changed in front of us, prancing about stark naked. Me and my mate were sure they were all gay.


It might have been a strange place all right, but ballet school was also very disciplined. You couldn’t talk in class and you couldn’t have a laugh either; you were there to work.


I would go up to Farringdon four times a week. I’d get the bus straight after school with a couple of other lads and not get back until 10 o’clock at night. Eventually, Mum got us sponsored by a local cab firm to take us there and back because we were coming home too late.


I went to ballet school for four years, doing jazz dance, contemporary and normal ballet, but, what with football training on a Saturday and a game on Sundays, it all became too much. In the end, Dad said I had to slow down and do one or the other. Luckily, I picked football.


Ballet has stood me in good stead in my football career. It has given me an edge in terms of flexibility, movement, co-ordination and balance. I’d say to any boy worried about taking it up, give it a go. Don’t worry about the mickey-takers – individuality is what life’s all about.


Dad moved out when I was nine and my brother Anton was two. He and Mum never really had fights. If they did they rarely happened in front of me or Anton, but I later found out they hadn’t been getting on.


When Dad told me he was leaving, he was in the bath and I was brushing my teeth. He just said, ‘Look, I’m going away for a while, but I’ll still come back and see you.’ At the time I just shrugged my shoulders and thought, ‘Fine, if he says he’ll be back to see me, he will be.’ I’ve never properly understood why they split up. It’s their own business.


Dad’s day job was as a tailor, hand-cutting clothes all over north and east London with his two brothers. They always wore good gear, and my dad used to spend most of his money on his threads. I wonder who he passed that trait on to?


He also did security jobs and was a bouncer at clubs in the West End on Friday and Saturday nights. He went out a lot with his brothers and had plenty of other mates to keep him entertained.


He was into clubs and music in a big way, just like me. He loved Marvin Gaye and old reggae. There was always reggae playing in our flat when he was there. Mum would be cooking and cleaning and the reggae would be playing on the pirate radio stations.


There were no CDs or iPods back then. Dad taped stuff off the radio and had shelves full of records and tapes in the front room. Whenever he went out I’d put his records on and dress up in his clothes. My favourite was his blazer with a waistcoat stitched inside. Then I’d put on his brogues and pose round the flat, listening to the songs.


I guess my parents splitting up means I come from a broken home, but it didn’t feel like it. Dad made a conscious decision to live near us and only moved across the road to the Yellow Brick Estate. He thought about going back to St Lucia, but realised he couldn’t be apart from his sons.


I worshipped Dad, but discussing our feelings was not a big thing in our house. When he was home I’d just sit and watch TV with him. I have a picture of me and him on the couch – a shocking couch by the way – and I’m sitting snuggled into him. That was me spending time with my dad.


For some kids, time with their parents means talking and sharing emotions, but my dad was more reserved. You never knew what he was thinking, when he was going out or when he was coming back. He often wouldn’t get back to the house till I was in bed and would be out the next morning before I got up. But if I was awake and heard him come in and make himself some rice or something I’d get up and share some with him.


He seemed like an old man to me when he was younger. He had a full beard, his rocking chair and a pipe. Now he’s like a young bloke and has become my best mate.


Maybe he didn’t know how to talk to us back then. He came from a background where his parents would often hit him. He was living by himself and working by the age of 14. I’m sure his dad, my granddad, loved him, but he probably didn’t know how to show it. So perhaps Dad didn’t know how to show it to us until he moved out and could look at things from a different angle.


My relationship with Dad – and I think Anton’s as well – grew from that moment he moved out. I’ve often wondered why him not being at home with us made such a difference but I haven’t really come up with an answer – from our point of view or his.


I see him now with my sisters Chloe, Anya and Remy by his fiancée Lisa and he’s so relaxed and comfortable with them, whatever tricks they’re getting up to. I’ll say to him,  ‘If I had done that when I was a kid I’d have had a clip round the ear.’


My sisters will refuse to do something and my dad will go, ‘Do I have to ask you again to do it?’ There weren’t no asking again when I was a kid. I would have been slapped straight away. If Mum told me to do something and I said, ‘In a minute,’ she’d just say, ‘I’m going to tell Dad,’ and that was it, it was either done or I got clouted.


One time, Dad was on the warpath, walking through the estate looking for me. I raced past him and straight upstairs, he didn’t have to say anything. He’s always been a fit bloke. He was into kung fu, did a lot of weights and had a quiet authority. You didn’t mess with him.


In my last year at secondary school he said that if I didn’t get at least five GCSEs at grades A to C I couldn’t play football the next year and would have to go to college. He may have moved out, but he still played the proper father’s role. He was a big influence on me. I’ve never worked so hard in my life. I revised like never before and got the results I needed.


When I was ten and started playing football for Bloomfield Athletic, Dad got into the game. He’d never been interested before, but he became the team fitness coach. These days he thinks he knows everything about football.


Once or twice a week he and I would go running up Old Kent Road to a big play area and do sprints, press-ups and sit-ups, to be fit for football. Dad was very athletic and quicker than me until I was about 15.


We also used to play tennis in Burgess Park or go out on our BMXs and we’d drive to football practice together in his yellow Beetle, with his reggae tapes blasting away. I remember being in the car coming back from football once when someone in another car shouted some remark. Dad jumped out and swore at this geezer while I stayed in the car, bricking it.


There were about six of them in the other vehicle but, when he got back in, Dad was cool as you like and nothing was said. He could ‘have it’, as we would say. He could look after himself.


Yet he’s very mild mannered. You wouldn’t think he was hard. He even sounds quite posh sometimes.


Mum met Peter a couple of years after Dad moved out and, if I’m honest, I didn’t like talking to him at first. I just decided I didn’t like him. He was from Peckham and lived in a flat nearby, but I didn’t know him and I didn’t want to know him. I just thought, ‘Aargh, my mum’s with him!’


I would ask Dad why he wasn’t with Mum any more and he used to say, ‘Ask your mum. Your mum doesn’t want me.’ In my eyes back then, Peter was an obstacle to Mum and Dad getting back together, even though I can see now it was never going to happen.


My auntie Janine, who was a social worker, came round to find out why I was behaving the way I was to Mum and Peter and I screamed at her, ‘She’s my mum! She should be with my dad! Why isn’t she with my dad?’ I was crying, everyone in the house was crying, and I shouted at Mum, ‘You should be with Dad! Dad wants you to be with him. Why don’t you be with him? It’s all ’cause of you that my dad doesn’t live here any more.’ I kept this going for ages until Mum broke down and said, ‘I can’t live like this. Peter’s the only man that I’ve met after your dad.’ It was a right scene.


Then, one day, Dad took me into his flat and introduced me to Lisa and almost immediately I felt everything was all right. Weird, innit? I don’t know why. I can’t work it out.


At Mum’s wedding to Peter I made a speech and said, ‘Peter, as long as you look after my mum then I’ll be happy.’ And I have been. He’s a top bloke and we get on really well now.


We all moved in together at 81 Latona Road, a bigger three-bedroom flat, when they had my sister Sian. I was about fourteen, Anton seven and it was fine.


Dad’s happy and is still working. He’s got his own factory which makes clothes for places like Topshop and Miss Selfridge. He doesn’t need to work. I could look after him, but he doesn’t want that. He’s his own man.


I’ll speak to him and ask, ‘How’s it going?’ and he goes, ‘Oh murder. It’s murder. These people in Romania, the stuff they’ve sent. The quality of it is not right. I’ve got to go out there.’ I think to myself, ‘Why are you doing this, man? You could be sitting at home chilling.’ But he’s still relatively young and I know I wouldn’t be able to sit on my backside doing nothing either, so I understand where he’s coming from. I respect him for that, he’s a hard-working man.


Dad’s too proud to let me look after him for the rest of his life, but I’ve bought both him and Mum houses. He told me not to, but I just said, ‘Shut up.’ He was already moving anyway and I took over the mortgage. He lives not far from Mum and they still talk to each other. They weren’t on speaking terms for a few years, but now they’ve realised that it’s best for all parties, especially the children, if they do.


I’m close to both Mum and Dad and look back on my childhood fondly. Last Christmas Mum wrapped up my very first teddy bear, Loopy Loo, and gave it to me as a present. I couldn’t believe it. It’s got a seventies type of jumper, coloured greeny-blue and cream, with a bit of brown thrown in. It brought back loads of memories and now he takes pride of place in my house, in the dressing room. I’m not embarrassed to have it on show. It was a favourite toy and gives me a happy feeling.


Mum and Lisa have become good friends, they get on like a house on fire, so everything’s worked out very nicely.


It’s all part of how I became the Rio of today, what shaped and moulded me into the person I am – and I haven’t even touched on football yet.




CHAPTER


TWO

Falling in Love with Maradona



Whenever we picked teams on the field at the Friary I always wanted to be Maradona or John Barnes, but I was so young I ended up getting Steve Nicol, the Liverpool defender.



 




My first clear football memories are of lying on the couch at 18 Gisburn House mesmerised by Maradona at the 1986 World Cup.

He scored a wicked second goal for Argentina against England and I went mad. It didn’t matter to me at the time that England lost or that he applied the Hand of God for the first one, because I loved his second solo goal so much. Seeing quality football has always got me even if it isn’t my team playing.

Nowadays I’d want to rip his head off, but at the time I was only seven and I just kept replaying that individual goal over and over in my mind and ran outside to recreate it, pretending to be him.

Gabriel Heinze, the Argentine defender at Manchester United, tells me that when he met Maradona for the first time he cried because he felt so emotional. The geezer was a legend, the best individual footballer ever.

I used to adore all the showmen – John Barnes, Ian Wright, Paul Gascoigne, Paul Ince, Marco Van Basten and Frank Rijkaard – but Maradona was the guv’nor, a genius. I’m proud to say I have one of his signed shirts on my wall at home.

The 1986 World Cup was one of those events which makes you go, ‘God, I’d love to be a footballer,’ and I’ll always remember the atmosphere on the telly – if that doesn’t sound double-Dutch. The commentator was going nuts.

There wasn’t the sound quality or picture clarity you get nowadays, which somehow made it more magical because it highlighted the fact that it was all going on a long way from England.

Whenever we picked teams on the field at the Friary I always wanted to be Maradona or John Barnes, but I was so young I ended up getting Steve Nicol, the Liverpool defender. It always pissed me off that. Nothing against Nicol, but he was hardly Maradona or Barnes.

Whenever I watched domestic football on the TV, Barnes was the man. There was a goal he scored against Brazil which was just amazing. He beat I don’t know how many players before scoring.

I used to video all his games and learn the commentaries of the goals he scored. ‘Will it be Barnes? It is now’ was one commentary for a goal against Everton. I can still hear it.

I remember him setting up a goal for Gary Lineker in the World Cup and laying on two for David Speedie at Old Trafford. To score the number of goals he did from left wing was astonishing. I couldn’t understand it when he used to get criticised in some of the papers for his England performances. I don’t care what anyone says, he’s one of the best players ever.

While I enjoyed football as an eight-year-old, I didn’t play it much. I preferred ‘runouts’ which was a game where one team had a minute to run round the estate and hide and then had to get back to base without being caught.

All the older kids played football and kept asking me to join them until eventually I gave in. I wasn’t the best because they were at least three years older which makes a lot of difference at that age. But it was good for my development because it meant I had to use skills to get past them rather than brute force. I didn’t think I was particularly good and that I was going to take on the world. It was just cool playing with the older boys.

We didn’t have a primary school team but we used to have a youth worker called Everton – yes, seriously – who was a semi-pro and coached us at our play centre after school. He was the first person who ever said to me, ‘You’re good, man, you should play for a team.’

My uncle, David Raynor, my mum’s sister’s husband, persuaded me to join his side, Bloomfield Athletic. I’ve still got that very first kit framed on the wall next to one of Maradona’s shirts. You might say those shirts represent both ends of the football spectrum.

I’ve got all sorts of shirts on my wall at home now. There’s one from the famous basketball player Michael Jordan, a T-shirt from Usher. I’ve got one of Gazza’s shirts and others from Roberto Baggio, Del Piero, Rivaldo, Roberto Carlos, Raul, Figo and Ronaldo. I’m quite a collector. But I don’t bother swapping with an opponent if they don’t have their name on the back of the shirt. You’ve got to have the name. Argentina didn’t have their names on their shirts when we beat them in a friendly in Geneva. I was gutted.

My cousin Ben, David’s son, used to play in goal for Bloomfields and all the team were a year older than me. We played on a full-sized pitch with big goals, which seemed absolutely massive to me at the time. When I was growing up nobody played seven-a-side on little pitches like they do now.

I can still remember my first ever game for Bloomfields. It was against Gallians on a soggy, rainy Sunday. I realised on the Friday night before the game that I’d have to get some football boots, but Mum said she couldn’t afford to buy me any. She asked around and finally discovered some at a friend’s place.

I rummaged through this filthy cupboard and pulled out a pair of Hi-Tec Strikers. They were rock hard, two sizes too big and hadn’t been used for years. But Dad said there was no way I was getting a pair of my own until he and Mum knew I was taking football seriously.

About two months later, when I’d convinced them I was interested, Mum and Dad bought me a pair of Mitre Scorpions. They were the business – black with white stripes and a brown outline round the stripe. Wouldn’t be seen dead in them now of course, but back then, wow!

I worshipped those boots. Every day after training I washed them carefully and put them underneath the radiator to dry out. Then I used dubbin to polish them up. I would wake up early just to check they were still there. They were like my pets.

Bloomfields’ big rivals were Red Lion from Bermondsey, whose star player was Nigel Quashie who went on to play for the likes of QPR, Southampton, Portsmouth, West Brom and West Ham.

Everyone knew about Nigel, he was the player in our area, the golden child, and we always had hard games against his team. Me and Nigel were on nodding terms. His mum and my dad were old friends from the same area. He went to school with my cousin Bernard and my big mate Gavin Rose played for Red Lion in the age group one year above him. He actually went on to play for the England Under-21s around the same time as me, although we were never in the same team.

Glenn Hoddle talked about Nigel as a possible for the 1998 World Cup, but it didn’t happen for him with England and he ended up being capped by Scotland. Dunno how that happened! I never had him down as a Jock.

Bloomfields were in the Mercury League which was like a pub league compared to other leagues like the Echo. But we punched above our weight and played in the London Youth Cup against a team called Long Lane, which was known as one of the best around, and beat them 3–1.

I was 11 years old and a well-known local QPR scout called Sandy was watching that day and took four of us to Rangers. There was me, Ben, my mate Gavin Williams and a kid called Said Youseff, who was a wicked player who went on to play badminton for England.

It was my first flirtation with big-time football. Nigel was already at QPR and we trained together at ‘the big one’ which was the Barclays Bank ground at Hanger Lane. I was a school year below Nigel and trained on the pitch next to him.

Even though I was at QPR I carried on playing for Bloomfields for two years before joining Eltham Town who were in the best local league. I’d been playing a year above my age for Bloomfields, but now I was joining boys of my own age at a higher standard. Uncle Dave didn’t want me to leave, but he understood.

I’d played in defence for Bloomfields, but I moved into midfield at Eltham. I scored 30-odd goals a season for two years and we won the title.

The secondary school I went to, Blackheath Bluecoat, wasn’t a sporting school, but we used to play football at break and had the occasional game against other schools. The PE teacher, Mr Delaney, was a good bloke and used to cram us all into his VW camper van to take us to games. I’m sure it was illegal, but we didn’t mind. His missus used to come to the matches as well. We all fancied her, so being squashed in the van next to those delightful curves was no hardship.

Mr Delaney entered us for the Metropolitan five-a-sides and we won the area competition to qualify for the All England finals. We had some good players. One of them, Tony Russell, played at Charlton for a while. But as a proper school team we were a joke. We asked Mr Owen, the head of Lower School, if he could get us a football coach so we could start playing in the cup competitions. He just kept saying it couldn’t be done. We didn’t even have our own playing field.

To compensate for this, Mr Delaney found out when the trials were for the district side and we went along to them instead. It took place over an entire day. We started with about 60 players and got whittled down to two teams playing each other.

The manager was Dave Goodwin, who was destined to become a massive influence on my career. I was in midfield and he picked me out and said, ‘I’m going to call you Pelé, son, I like the way you play.’ After that he took me under his wing.

Dave became like a second dad to me and I used to be round at his house all the time. Dave, his wife Kate and daughter Danielle became like family. He worked part-time for Middlesbrough, doing reports on the opposition for their manager Lennie Lawrence. He would go to all the big grounds like Highbury and White Hart Lane and take me with him.

We would also go up country, to places like Coventry and Preston, on the train. It was one of the best bits of education for my football career.

We went to Wolves to see Middlesbrough get promoted. Their striker, Paul Wilkinson, was in the bar afterwards and gave me his cycling shorts, which he wore under his football kit. I was made up!

On the way home Dave used to test me, asking what formation the teams had played and where the goals had come from. And at the games I’d have to write down how the corners and throw-ins were taken.

Although Dave’s team was a representative one it became the team I played for on a regular basis. We played every other week and for the All England Cup we would go all over the country. We went to Durham and the Isle of Wight, which was pretty exciting for a youngster who was normally never allowed off the estate.

I regularly used to have dinner round at Dave’s and would even stay over on a Saturday night. Even now I still speak to him before and after games and I’ve always valued his opinion. He works at Newcastle now, but he worked at West Ham for ages, as well as Charlton and Middlesbrough. He knows his football. I’ll always be grateful to him for what he did for me. I cannot thank him enough.

It was my choice to go to Blackheath Bluecoat secondary school. It was a half-hour bus journey from home, but I wanted to spread my wings and meet new people.

There was a sense of freedom about getting off the estate, although, typically, Mum insisted on coming with me on the bus for the first week. How embarrassing was that?

Bluecoats was academically better than the schools nearer to us, so Mum was pleased about my choice. But in Blackheath they thought Peckham boys were roughnecks and bad boys. Admittedly we liked messing about and having little fights but it was never anything serious.

We didn’t have to wear a blazer, which was a plus, but on the downside we had to wear a blue jumper with an emblem and a tie. I’ve always hated uniforms. Later in life I had to wear the official suit to go to the 1998 World Cup with England and it was an absolute horror – a sort of washed-out green.

You weren’t allowed to wear trainers in class, which also used to do my head in. I didn’t like shoes. I had big feet and shoes looked funny on me.

But secondary school was wicked. I didn’t like some of the lessons, but, just like at Camelot, I loved the banter and messing about in class with my mates. All my school reports said the same: ‘Capable and very intelligent, but easily distracted, distracts others, talks too much.’

I couldn’t help it. If my mates were talking and having a laugh I had to be involved. It’s the same in the dressing room; it’s like my classroom.

I enjoyed reading, though. One of my favourite books, perhaps not surprisingly, was The Twits by Roald Dahl, which is about a couple who like larking about. Another Roald Dahl book, The BFG, was also a favourite of mine. I also got hooked on a book about Jimmy Greaves which I found in the school library. It gave me a real insight into the highs and the lows of the game.

I got the nickname ‘Bart Simpson’ after the character in The Simpsons because my hair stood straight up. I was also known as ‘The Fresh Prince’ because I was really into the programme The Fresh Prince of Bel Air. Will Smith, who was the star, was a really cool dude, so it was no bad thing being compared to him, I can tell you. I watched Fresh Prince all the time. It was one of the best programmes on TV when we were kids. But it still didn’t beat EastEnders which I’m still obsessed with today. Maybe it’s because I live away and it reminds me of home.

Bluecoats was a mixed school which meant there were plenty of good-looking birds in the class and they loved me. It’s true – well that’s the way I remember it. I never had a girlfriend though. The closest I came was with Kelly Martin for a little while, but I didn’t want a regular on my arm because I used to hate people knowing my business. That’s never changed. If it got to me then, you can imagine how much it annoys me now.

If I ever kissed any birds I’d always insist they didn’t tell anyone. Most kids would have bragged about it, but I didn’t. After we’d had a kiss, a girl would say, ‘Let me hold your hand. Let’s walk back to class together,’ and I would be like, ‘Hold hands? No way!’ If anyone put me on the spot about it I’d say, ‘What are you talking about? Do you think I would do anything with her? No chance.’ I tell you, I used to be weird in that way.

I went to France once with Leyton Square and me and my mate ended up pulling a couple of 13-year-old French birds. We were in this barn and I was kissing one of them, trying to get her top off and then I felt something furry and realised she had hairy armpits. I’ve never shit myself so much in my life. I just jumped up and left.

As I’ve said, I never missed many days at school, but I would go missing when I was there. I would occasionally hide in the toilets with my mates if there was a lesson coming up we didn’t like. Science, maybe, or RE because I’m not very religious.

I had my chance though. My school was Church of England and I used to go to Sunday school now and again. My mum’s right into religion. She’s a born-again Christian and her husband Peter is a deacon.

But, while I believe there is a superior being up there, I can’t work out why he would let people die in car crashes and natural disasters. If he’s as powerful as everyone says why do innocent people die in Iraq? Why do people die in Palestine and Israel? Religion seems to be at the root of a lot of trouble.

At the same time, I’m fascinated by different religions. I’ve got friends who are Muslims and I wanted to understand their faith. School should have helped me with that, but it didn’t. I believe things happen for a reason and I’m interested in why.

One of the reasons I struggle to understand why God acts in the way he does is when things happen like the death of Stephen Lawrence, who went to my school. He was four years older than me, but I knew him quite well. He was a quiet lad, a nice kid who loved art.

One day, in April 1993, whispers went round school saying he’d been stabbed. No one believed it until the headteacher told everyone he’d been killed at a bus stop in Eltham. The school shut down immediately and everyone had to go home.

Stephen had been with a boy called Duwayne Brooks, who I remember was a good footballer. Duwayne was meant to have carried Stephen, trying to get help. Everyone thought they knew who the kids were that did it and the same names kept cropping up. The Daily Mail even named the five who were supposed to be involved.

No one knew what Stephen, who was a black lad, was doing in the area where he’d been stabbed. It was an especially dangerous place late at night and if you were black you just wouldn’t be seen walking round there.

Stephen’s parents, Neville and Doreen, fought a big campaign to obtain justice for their son. They went all the way through the courts and had meetings with MPs, but still there has been no result. They need closure but they haven’t got it.

I went to one of the dinners for Stephen’s campaign a few years ago and donated some gear. I know that’s not much, compared to what the Lawrences and others have put themselves through, but I was proud to be involved.

Just when it seemed the campaign had gone off the boil, a BBC programme, The Boys Who Killed Stephen Lawrence, was aired in July 2006. I couldn’t believe some of the stuff in it. All sorts of allegations and claims about what was going on. If there is a God up there, I pray that justice is done some day for the Lawrences.

Some of the lads at school smoked, but I didn’t like it. It made me feel sick. I would only take a couple of drags to be part of the crowd, but I even stopped doing that. It wouldn’t have been very good for my football either.

There were subjects I liked, such as PE, English, maths and drama. I was lucky; I had good teachers who made those subjects interesting.

I was one of the stars of our school production of Bugsy Malone. I played that wicked geezer Fizzy, the cleaner in the club, and I sang ‘Tomorrow’. The audience gave me a standing ovation, as I remember it. Or maybe were they just getting up to leave! I had a thing for acting then and I used to go to the classes when the drama club came to our estate.

I got a B in drama in my GCSE. It should have been an A, but my written coursework let me down. I couldn’t be arsed. I liked acting, not writing about it. I used to fudge my way through school copying coursework. I’d chat all lesson, then I’d get a kid to give me his book and I’d go and copy bits and pieces on the bus, but put it in my own words. It wasn’t that I couldn’t do it; it was just easier that way.

I only started working hard in school in the last year when my dad gave me that ultimatum that I couldn’t play football unless I got five GCSEs at A to C grade. Fortunately I did.

I’ve had two chances to join Chelsea in my life. Some reckon it was three, after I was seen talking to their chief executive Peter Kenyon last season, but I can assure them it wasn’t. I’ve never been interested in going there.

The first time they tried to sign me was when I was 14 and the other was when I was about to make my £18 million move from West Ham to Leeds in November 2000.

Although I was training at QPR as a youngster and enjoying it, I was interested to see what other clubs were like. When I turned 14, I didn’t sign for any club as a schoolboy. I could have done, but I didn’t want to commit myself.

Chelsea had been trying to get me to train with them, so I thought I’d have a look, but I hated it. For a start, they trained miles away at Battersea Park and when you did get there, it wasn’t worth the bother.

One day with Chelsea our team won a game 10–6 and our reward was to do six laps of the Astroturf pitch. Anyone who’s ever been there will tell you it’s massive. I was only a young lad and already did plenty of running all day at school and on the estate. The reason I went to training was to learn about football, not be a cross-country runner, so I didn’t bother going back.

I then went to Charlton where a kid called me a ‘black bastard’. The kid got chucked out and I got told I could stay, but I didn’t like the atmosphere so I left.

My mum had always supported Millwall and, even though the club and the surrounding area had a reputation for being racist, I decided to give it a go. I went for a week in the summer holidays and trained with the likes of Ben Thatcher, Mark Kennedy and Jermaine Wright. The coach, Tom Walley, was highly respected and put on some wicked sessions.

For all that Millwall had a poor reputation, you didn’t sense it inside the club. I quite liked it and the manager, Mick McCarthy, tried really hard to get me to stay, but I still wanted to look at other options. I was enjoying life and I didn’t want to be tied down anywhere. I liked travelling to different clubs during the holidays and at weekends to find out what each one had to offer.

My nomadic existence took me to Norwich for a while. It was there that I ran into the formidable Ade Akinbiyi, who is now in his second spell at Burnley. He was four years older than me, but took part in our practice games. He’s always remembered me from those days and every time I see him play we have a little natter.

I went to Middlesbrough because of Dave Goodwin’s connections with the club and I loved it there. I went for nearly a year, every school holiday, with my mate Anthony McFarlane. We stayed in a bed and breakfast in Stockton.

They used to give us loads of stuff to take home, like tracksuits, new boots and kit bags. The give-aways were all designed to create a good impression of the club and I loved getting free gear.

Graham Kavanagh, the Republic of Ireland midfielder who now plays for Sunderland, stayed in the same digs and looked after us. We thought he was the greatest player in the world.

He took me out a few times in his car and I used to think, ‘I’d love to be like Graham Kavanagh. Oh God, I’d love to be like him.’ I was a skinny string bean and Graham looked really big. I feared that I wouldn’t grow up to be as big as him and consequently wouldn’t make the grade. I’ve filled out since, of course, and grown a bit. I’ve played against Graham in the Premiership and he’s only about 5ft 10in, whereas I’m 6ft 3in.
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